
 
 

PLANNING, REGULATORY AND 
LICENSING 

 
5.00 PM WEDNESDAY, 8TH JANUARY, 2020 

 

COUNCIL CHAMBER 
 

 
Please note that this meeting will be recorded for subsequent broadcast via the Authority’s 

Internet Site.  
  

The images and sound recording may also be used for training purposes within the Authority. 
 

The Public Seating areas will be in view of the Camera and, by entering the Chamber and using 
the Public Seating Area, Members  

of the Public are consenting to being filmed and to the possible use of those images and 
sound recordings as outlined above.   

 

 
This Agenda has been prepared by the  

Democratic Services Department. Any member of the public requiring information should 
contact the department on (01685 725284) or email democratic@merthyr.gov.uk. 

 
Any reference documents referred to but not published as part of this agenda can be found 

on the Council’s website or intranet under Background Papers. 
 

AGENDA 
 

1. Apologies for absence   

2. Declarations of Interest   

 Members are reminded of their personal 
responsibility to declare any personal and 
prejudicial interest in respect of matters contained 
in this agenda in accordance with the provisions of 
the Local Government and Finance Act 1992 
relating to Council Tax, the Local Government Act 
2000, the Council’s Constitution and the Members 
Code of Conduct 
 

 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


Note: 
 

(a) Members are reminded that they must 
identify the item number and subject matter 
that their interest relates to and signify the 
nature of the personal interest and 

 
(b) Where Members withdraw from a Meeting 

as a consequence of the disclosure of a 
prejudicial interest they must notify the 
Chair when they leave 

 

Planning Applications  -  Recommendations under the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 and the Planning and Compensation Act 
1991 

3. P/19/0073 - Bike Park Wales, Gethin Woodland 
Centre, Abercanaid, Merthyr Tydfil, CF48 1YZ  

 

 To consider report of the Interim Chief Executive 
 

5 - 24 

Information Reports 

4. P/19/0115 Appeal Decision   

 To receive report of the Interim Chief Executive 
 

25 - 28 

5. P/19/0038 Appeal Received   

 To receive report of the Interim Chief Executive 
 

29 - 30 

6. PE/18/0119 Appeal Received   

 To receive report of the Interim Chief Executive 
 

31 - 32 

7. Delegated Report  33 - 40 

8. Any Other Business Deemed Urgent by the Chair   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

 

COMPOSITION: Councillors  C Tovey (Chair)  
                    M Colbran (Vice-Chair) 

  
 Councillors:  J Amos, H Barrett, D Chaplin, 

E Galsworthy, K Gibbs, C T Jones, G Lewis, J Thomas 
and S Thomas 
 

 together with appropriate officers 
  

 
If you would prefer a copy of this agenda in another language please contact 

democratic@merthyr.gov.uk or telephone 01685 725284 

 
 

mailto:democratic@merthyr.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 
            

 
 

DATE WRITTEN 23rd December 2019 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER David Cross 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 8th January 2020 
 
 

Application No. Date Determining Authority 
P/19/0073 18th November 2019 MTCBC 
   
Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 

Applicant/Agent 
   
Provision of 36 camping pods and 5 
chalets, erection of shower/toilet 
block and creation of play and picnic 
area.  Construction of new parking 
area (150 spaces) with overflow 
carpark (46 spaces), together with a 
trail maintenance yard, new 
highway access routes, ground 
profile works, drainage,, 
infrastructure and landscape works 

Bike Park Wales 
Gethin Woodland Centre 
Abercanaid 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1YZ 
 

Bike Park Wales  
c/o The Urbanists 
F.a.o. Mr  L Hopkins 
The Creative Quarter 
8A Morgan Acade 
Cardiff    

 
 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3



APPLICATION SITE 
 
This application relates to an irregular shaped area of land measuring approximately 3.56 
hectares within Gethin Woods, which forms part of and is adjacent to (east of) Bike Park 
Wales. The site comprises an area of mature deciduous woodland, an area of scrub and 
rough pasture, as well as part of the existing carpark and service yard serving the mountain 
bike centre. 
 
The context of the site is largely defined by surrounding woodland, some of which forms 
part of operational forestry works carried out by Natural Resources Wales. The profile of the 
land within the site is of an undulating nature but generally slopes downwards from the 
south-west to the north-east towards the A470 trunk road (approx. 180m from the eastern 
boundary). 
 
The principle means of vehicular access to Bike Park Wales is via an existing part metalled 
and part unmade track that links to the roundabout (to the south-east) which forms part of 
the A470 trunk road. Access to the site can also be achieved along established 
cycle/pedestrian routes (some designated as legal rights of ways) to the north of the site, 
which link to the residential area of Abercanaid.  
 
PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT 
 
Full planning permission is sought for the expansion of the existing mountain bike centre to 
provide 36 camping pods and 5 chalets, together with a shower/toilet block and the creation 
of a playground/picnic area. The proposal involves an extension to the main car park to 
provide an additional 150 parking spaces, which includes 7 spaces for motorhomes.  An 
overflow car park would also be constructed to accommodate 46 spaces. A network of new 
vehicular and pedestrian access routes would be provided across the site to serve the 
development, together with associated engineering works and a comprehensive 
landscaping scheme. 
 
The proposed camping pods and chalets would be located within the existing woodland 
area and would be linked together by a network of pedestrian/cycle trails. There would be 
three different types of camping pods, including 23 standard timber pods (with an arched 
roof that extends to the ground), 9 land pods (a domed structure raised above the ground 
with a canvas envelope) and 4 shepherd huts (a timber carriage structure on wheels). It is 
noted that two of the standard timber pods would be utilised as toilet facilities. The camping 
pods would vary in size from 3m to 6.3m long by 2.6m to 3m wide and 2.3m to 3m high. 
 
The chalets would be single storey buildings located in the eastern part of the woodland 
and would measure 15.2m long by 6.9m deep and 3.5m high with a pitched roof. Each 
chalet would provide 3 bedrooms, a bathroom, kitchen and living room. The buildings would 
be of a timber construction incorporating treated timber cladding on the elevations with a 
grey felt roof covering. Each chalet would also provide a small integral bin store and decked 
amenity area. 
 
The proposed toilet/shower block would be located at the western part of the woodland 
adjacent to the existing car park. It would provide a total of 12 shower blocks for both 
campers and visitors to the mountain bike centre. The building would be of a timber 
construction measuring 13.3m wide by 4m deep and 3m high with a single pitched roof. The 

Page 6



external finishes would include treated timber cladding on the elevations with a high 
performance membrane applied to the roof. 
 
In the northern part of the site an area of land would be landscaped to create a playground 
incorporating various interactive features (i.e. balance beams, stepping stones and climbing 
frames) and picnic tables. This would be linked to the camping area and visitor centre by a 
network of pedestrian/cycle trails. 
 
The proposed extended car parking area would be provided in the north-east part of the site 
and would cover an area measuring approximately 71m wide by 32m deep. It would have a 
hardcore surface similar to that used on the existing car parking areas. The car park would 
be enclosed by new tree planting and would be split into five distinct parking areas. Each 
area would be separated by a landscaped buffer/screen comprising a mixture of trees of 
varying sizes. 
 
A new one-way access track would be constructed to serve the proposed extended car 
park, which would initially stretch across the site from west to east. It would then continue 
south through the woodland area (between the camping pods and chalets) where it would 
link back to the existing carpark and the proposed overflow carpark. This access route 
would have a hardcore surface with sections of the track, which cross through the woodland 
area, utilising a plastic reinforced system to minimise the impact on the root systems of 
adjacent trees. The overflow carpark would be located in the southern part of the site and 
would cover an area measuring approximately 80m in length and 16m wide. This parking 
area would be constructed with a hardcore surface. 
 
A comprehensive landscaping scheme is proposed across the entire site involving the 
planting of a substantial number (4,909) of trees around the playground, car parks, camping 
pods and chalets and adjacent to the visitor centre. The planting would comprise a mixture 
of tree species and maturity including Alder, Oak, Birch, Hazel, Hawthorn, Holly, Hawthorn, 
Blackthorn and Rowan. 
 
In support of this application the following suite of documents has been submitted: 
 

 Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) Volume 1 & 2, which primarily focuses on 
the ecological implications and the landscape character/visual impacts.  

 Habitat Management Plan 

 Tree Survey 

 Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan 

 Landscape Maintenance Programme 

 Assessment of the Significance of Development on Historic Landscape (ASIDOHL2) 

 Drainage Strategy Report 

 Drainage Calculations 

 Transport Assessment 

 Coal Mining Risk Assessment 

 Ground Conditions Desk Study Report 

 Site Investigation Report 

 Design & Access Statement 

 Pre-application Consultation Report 
 

Page 7



PLANNING HISTORY 
 
P/19/0189 - Erection of proposed uplift building and erection of 8 No. pole  

mounted CCTV on 5 poles. 
 
Permission GRANTED on 10.09.2019 

 
P/18/0335 - Erection of new bike hire centre with associated bike washing facilities  

and storage areas. Erection of new catering unit and staff office 
building. 
 
Permission GRANTED on 19.12.2018 

 
P/16/0055 - Retention of revised car parking layout, including the provision of  

additional parking spaces and the erection of two wood clad huts. 
 
Permission GRANTED on 07.04.2016 

 
P/15/0385 - Construction of 23 additional mountain bike trails to expand the existing  

mountain bike facility. 
 
Permission GRANTED on 28.04.2016 

 
P/12/0235 - Creation of mountain bike centre comprising the erection of a single  

storey visitor centre building (including a cafe, office and shop), 
construction of seventeen forest bike trails, campsite (including 5 
timber camping pods) with shower block and associated car parking 
and landscaping works. 
 
Permission GRANTED on 18.10.2012 

 
CONSULTATION 
 
The following comments have been received as a result of the consultation exercise: 
 
 
Internal consultees 
 
Engineering & Traffic 
Group Leader  - No objection subject to conditions relating to ground  

investigation and retaining works. 
 
Planning Division’s 
Policy Group Leader - No objection. 
 
Planning Division’s 
Landscape Architect - No objection. 
 
Ecologist   - No objection subject to a condition relating to a wildlife  

protection plan.  

Page 8



 
Environmental Health 
Manager   - No objection, although some concern was raised in  

respect of the capacity of the existing private water 
supply serving the existing and proposed facilities. 

 
External consultees 
 
Natural Resources Wales - No objection subject to a condition relating to foul  

drainage. 
 
The Coal Authority  - No objection. 
 
Glamorgan Gwent 
Archaeological Trust - No objection. 
 
Cadw    - No objection. 
 
Welsh Government 
Highway Division  - No response. 
 
Welsh Water   - No objection. 
 
Wales & West Utilities - No objection. 
 
Western Power Dist. - No response. 
 
PUBLIICTY 
 
In accordance with the Town & Country (Development Management Procedure) (Wales) 
Order 2012, two site notices were displayed within the vicinity of the site on the 28th March 
2019 and a notice was placed in the local newspaper on the 4th April 2019. 
 
No representations were received as a result of this publicity exercise. 
 
POLICY CONTEXT 
 
The following policies are relevant to the determination of this application: 
 
National planning policy 
 
Planning Policy Wales (PPW), Edition 10, December 2018: 
 
Paras 3.5 – 3.15 set out the importance of high quality design to ensure inclusive design, to 
promote environmental sustainability and ensure high environmental quality. Regard should 
also be given to the special characteristics of an area, community safety and to encourage 
sustainable forms of transport. 
 

Page 9



Para 3.34 notes that the countryside must be conserved and where possible enhanced for 
the sake of its ecological, geological, cultural and agricultural value and for its landscape 
and natural resources.  
 
Para 3.51 notes that previously developed land wherever possible should be used in 
preference to greenfield sites where it is suitable for development. 
 
Paras 4.1.43 – 4.1.55 set out the need to reduce the level and speed of traffic in new 
development, the provision of car parking and how this may be integrated into new 
development to minimise the reliance of cars. Transport assessments are also an important 
mechanism to determine anticipated impacts a development proposal may have. 
 
Paras 5.5.1 – 5.5.2 acknowledge that tourism can be a catalyst for regeneration, 
improvement of the built environment and environmental protection. The planning system 
encourages tourism where it contributes to economic development and where it can assist 
in enhancing the sense of place of an area which has intrinsic value and interest for 
tourists. 
 
Para 5.5.3 notes in rural areas, tourism related development should be sympathetic in 
nature and scale to the local environment. 
 
Para 5.5.6 considers the scale and broad distribution of existing and proposed tourist 
attractions and the potential for complementary developments, such as accommodation 
and access to be provided in ways which limit negative environmental impacts and consider 
the opportunities to enhance biodiversity. 
 
Para 6.4.17 recognises that SSSI (Sites of Special Scientific Interest) are of national 
importance. There is a duty placed on all public bodies, including planning authorities, to 
exercise their function to further the conservation and enhancement of the features by 
reason of which a SSSI is of special interest. 
 
Paras 6.4.21 – 6.4.23 note that local authorities should seek to maintain and enhance 
biodiversity and build resilient ecological networks to ensure that any adverse 
environmental effects can first be avoided, mitigated or compensated. Regard should also 
be given to the potential impacts on protected species including the disturbance or harm to 
their habitats. 
 
Para 6.4.25 states planning authorities should protect trees, hedgerows, groups of trees 
and areas of woodland where they have ecological value, contribute to the character or 
amenity of a particular locality, or perform a beneficial and identified green infrastructure 
function. 
 
Paras 6.6.18 – 6.6.19 set out the need to consider SuDS as an integral part of the design of 
new development at the earliest possible stage. The SuDS scheme should be designed to 
manage surface water based on principles which work with nature to facilitate the natural 
functioning of water cycle. Regard should also be given to the mobilisation of contaminants 
which may have an impact on the wider area. 
 
Para 6.9.23 sets out that local authorities should take into account the nature, scale and 
extent of ground instability which may pose direct risks to life and health, buildings and 

Page 10



structures, or present indirect hazards associated with ground movement, including mine 
entry collapse, which provide potential pathways for the migration to surface of landfill or 
mine gases. 
 
Para 6.9.27 states that where acceptable measures can overcome instability, planning 
permission may be granted subject to conditions specifying the necessary measures. If 
instability cannot be overcome satisfactorily, the authority may refuse planning permission. 
 
Technical Advice Note (TAN): 
 
TAN 5: Nature Conservation and Planning, September 2009 
TAN 12: Design, March 2016 
TAN 13: Tourism, October 1997 
TAN 16: Sport, Recreation and Open Space, January 2009 
TAN 18: Transport, March 2007 
TAN 23: Economic Development, February 2014 
 
Local planning policy 
 
Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan 2006-2021: 
 

 Policy BW1 - Development strategy – Primary Growth Area 

 Policy BW4 - Settlement boundaries / locational constraints 

 Policy BW5 - Natural heritage 

 Policy BW6 - Townscape and built heritage 

 Policy BW7 - Sustainable design and place making 

 Policy BW8 - Development and the water environment 

 Policy BW10 - Mineral safeguarding 

 Policy BW12 - Development proposals and transport 

 Policy BW16 - Protecting / enhancing the network of leisure facilities 

 Policy AS4 - Historic landscape 

 Policy AS6 - Local nature conservation designations 

 Policy TB11 - Access, parking and accessibility of local facilities 
 
Supplementary Planning Guidance (SPG): 
 

 SPG 4: Sustainable Design, July 2013 

 SPG 5: Nature and Development, May 2015 
 
PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS 
 
Land use 
 
The application site lies outside of the settlement boundary and as such the proposal 
constitutes countryside development as defined by policy BW4 of the LDP. Development in 
such locations can be supported in principle, where amongst other things, it relates to 
tourism, recreation or leisure facilities and where it supports the expansion of an existing 
business in the countryside. In this respect, the development would form an integral part of 
the well established mountain bike centre (Bike Park Wales) and would seek to expand the 

Page 11



business with the provision of additional facilities including on-site accommodation. The 
proposal aims to improve its attraction and its long term viability. Therefore the principle of 
the development is acceptable. 
 
The proposed development would be situated in an area identified in the LDP as a coal 
safeguarding area, where policy BW10 seeks to prevent permanent development that may 
otherwise sterilise or hinder potential coal extraction in the future. In this instance it is 
considered that the scale of the development would have a limited impact on the 
safeguarding area and would unlikely hinder the potential extraction of the coal resource in 
the future. 
 
Economic benefits 
 
Since Bike Park Wales was first established it has seen a continual increase in visitor 
numbers from approximately 47,500 in 2013/14 to 75,000 in 2017/18. In the Design & 
Access Statement it is noted that continued growth in the mountain bike market is 
expected, but it will also become increasingly competitive. The proposed development 
forms part of Bike Park Wales ambition to strengthen its position as a premier mountain 
bike destination. It is anticipated that the new facilities would increase visitor numbers to the 
park by a further 30% by 2022. This increase in visitor numbers would improve the viability 
of the business and increase the positive impacts it has on the local economy e.g. creation 
of jobs and the provision of overnight accommodation in the local area. 
 
The Design & Access Statement considers the development is required not only to help 
cater for the increased demand but also to act as a catalyst for a further increase in visitor 
numbers, particularly families. Additionally, the applicant has indicated that Bike Park Wales 
currently employs 54 full time staff and that it is anticipated the proposal would create a 
further 16 full time jobs. 
 
Section 2.1.2 of TAN 23 states ‘where economic development would cause environmental 
or social harm which cannot be fully mitigated, careful consideration of the economic 
benefits will be necessary’. Section 2.1.5 goes on to set three tests to assist in balancing 
the economic merits, which are: 
 

 Is the development in the most appropriate location or are there alternative sites? 

 How many jobs would be created? 

 Would the development make any special contribution to policy objectives? 
 
In this instance, the proposal relates to a well-established leisure facility where its location 
within Gethin Woods is an essential part of the setting and experience of the mountain bike 
facility. As set out in Chapter 5 of the Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA), alternative 
sites were considered within the vicinity of the existing facility. A number of factors were 
taken into consideration, including the topography, position of existing trees, the 
relationship to the existing facilities and the ecological sensitivity of the area. It has been 
demonstrated that the proposed site presented the least impact on the landscape and 
ecology, whilst maintaining an appropriate/viable relationship with the mountain bike centre. 
A comprehensive landscape scheme is also proposed as a means to mitigate/compensate 
the potential impacts on the surrounding environment. 
 

Page 12



As noted above, the development would create 16 full time jobs, which equates to a 29% 
increase in staff numbers. Additionally, it is evident that due to the growth and success of 
the mountain bike centre, there have been other economic benefits in the local area e.g. the 
creation of new businesses such as campsites and guest-houses. 
 
Design approach 
 
The general layout of the development has been informed by the constraints of the site, 
which include large areas of woodland, ecological environments and changes in site levels. 
The siting of the proposed camping pods and chalets within the woodland has also been 
influenced by the need to avoid the root systems of significant trees. This has resulted in an 
organic layout that responds well with the character of the area. The camping pods and 
chalets would also be appropriately linked to the existing mountain bike centre by a network 
of pedestrian/cycle routes that are separated from the vehicular access tracks. The 
proposed shower/toilet block would also be appropriately located close to the existing 
mountain bike centre where it can be easily utilised by all visitors.  
 
The scale of the proposed buildings, which are typical for this type of development, is 
acceptable. The proposed shower/toilet block, camping pods and chalets would be of a 
timber construction and the external finishes would comprise of timber cladding and 
materials with a muted colour that are in keeping with the setting of the woodland 
environment. The topography and intervening trees, including those which would be planted 
as part of the landscaping scheme, would help to screen the buildings and enable the 
development to blend with its surroundings. 
 
The proposed playground would provide a new recreational area that compliments the 
existing mountain bike facilities. This would include a picnic area and play equipment that is 
natural in character (largely constructed from timber), such as logs, boulders, play trails, 
slides and swings, which would be set in grass or chipped bark. 
 
The layout of the development, the siting of the buildings and their general scale and 
appearance is acceptable and would appropriately integrate with the existing mountain bike 
centre and surrounding environment. Therefore the proposal complies with policy BW7 of 
the LDP. 
 
Landscape character 
 
A Landscape and Visual Impact Assessment (LVIA) has been carried out, which considers 
the likely effects of the development on the landscape and its users. This assessment has 
taken LANDMAP into account, which provides the baseline information on the landscape 
features and qualities that contribute to its character. A photographic survey was also 
carried out to consider representative views. 
 
Historically the site accommodated areas of hardstanding on plateaus set within a 
woodland environment, which were used to provide an informal carpark to support 
recreational activity in the area. This has since evolved with the creation of a mountain bike 
centre and the expansion of the parking facilities, which now dominates the character of its 
immediate context. It is evident in the LVIA that the proposal would have a number of 
significant impacts to the character of site, given the scale the development and the extent 

Page 13



of the features that would be lost as a result, in particular the loss of trees, grassland and 
forestry ground.  
 
The LVIA states in terms of landform and geology the main adverse effects would be as a 
result of excavation works to the rear of the existing mountain bike centre, which involves 
using gabion baskets to increase the size of the service area to provide a trail maintenance 
yard. A large part of this area would be screened from the surrounding area by the visitor 
centre building. 
 
The woodland areas are noted in LVIA to be of high value, particularly as they also host a 
mosaic of habitats as a result of limited reclamation and vegetation management. The LVIA 
acknowledges the woodland areas would be directly affected by the construction of the 
overflow carpark, paths, drives, bunds, camping pods and chalets. The overall effect on this 
environment has therefore been assessed as significant as it would not be able to 
accommodate the development without undue consequences.  
 
The area of open scrub/grassland in the northern part of the site has been assessed in the 
LVIA as not being significant. However it does recognise that the development would 
adversely impact on the complex scrub community now growing across this area which is 
likely to be of some ecological importance. It should be noted that the area of open 
scrub/grassland land was previously occupied by a number of trees, which were removed a 
few years ago, due to a disease that severely affected their health. Additionally, in terms of 
the water environment, the proposal would introduce areas of additional hardstanding and 
paths across the site, which increases the risk of silt and pollution being introduced into the 
water environment. This could not only have an impact on the existing trees and vegetation 
within the site, but could also cause issues further downstream. 
 
Notwithstanding the significant effects on the landscape the LVIA does not consider the 
development would alter the overall landscape character as the proposed elements are not 
fundamentally different in character from those which already exist within the site. 
Additionally the size of the development, though large in relation to the existing mountain 
bike facilities, is not of a scale that is likely to significantly change the qualities of the area 
that are defined in LANDMAP. 
 
The LVIA provides an assessment of the potential visual impacts of the development from a 
number of viewpoints, which includes the existing rights of ways and tracks within the 
vicinity of the site, Merthyr Common, the Trevithick Trail and the residential area of 
Pentrebach. Taking into account a number of factors, such as the change in levels, existing 
woodland screening and the distances at which the development may be seen, it has been 
demonstrated in the LVIA that the proposal would not have a significant impact on any long 
distant views. The proposal would have the greatest impact on the views closest to the 
development along nearby bridleways and pedestrian/cycle routes, which either cross 
through the site or are close to the boundaries. The notable impacts on these views would 
be the deterioration of parts of the woodland environment and the replacement of grassland 
with hardstanding areas. 
 
To address the potential impacts on the landscape character and views a series of 
mitigation measures are proposed. These largely involve the planting of a substantial 
number of trees and shrubs within the woodland areas, around the proposed carparks and 
adjacent to the maintenance yard. This not only ensures the replacement of trees that 

Page 14



would be lost but would also help to reinforce the quality of the woodland environment. 
Areas of landscape buffers would be introduced, particularly around the carparks, which 
would help to screen the development from any long distance views and minimise the 
impact on the views of the development within the immediate surroundings. The LVIA notes 
further mitigations can be put in place to ensure any works within close proximity to existing 
trees does not impact on their health. In this regard it is noted that the proposed paths and 
access tracks would avoid the root protection zones, which have been identified in the 
submitted Tree Protection Plan. 
 
It is evident that the proposed development would have an impact on the landscape 
character and views, some of which can be mitigated through a comprehensive planting 
scheme, which would improve over time as the planting matures. However, there would 
inevitably be some loss of features that cannot be mitigated i.e. the loss of shrub/grassland 
and woodland ground cover. It is noted that the Planning Division’s Landscape Architect 
has not raised any objection to the development and welcomes the proposed planting of 
trees to help mitigate some of the impacts. However, it is important to ensure that an 
appropriate woodland management plan is in place to deliver a successful scheme, which 
can be secured by condition. The Planning Division’s Landscape Architect considers the 
masterplan adequately sets out the over-arching strategy for providing an acceptable 
landscape setting for the proposed development, while at the same time offering a more 
secure future for the woodland. The planted trees would also effectively become part of the 
existing woodland tree preservation order, which covers the site and would be afforded 
protection. Therefore, the proposal complies with policy BW5 of the LDP. 
 
Impact on trees 
 
Given the location of the development within an established ancient woodland environment, 
which is entirely protected by a Tree Preservation Order, a Tree Survey has been submitted 
in support of the application, together with an Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree 
Protection Plan.  
 
The proposed carpark and playground would be located in the northern part of the site. This 
area generally comprises of open grassland and as such there would be a minimal impact 
on any trees. However, the proposed camping pods, chalets and the overflow carpark at 
the centre and southern parts of the site would be situated in the woodland environment, 
along with associated access tracks and footpaths. The submitted Tree Survey has 
identified a number of large/mature trees within the woodland environment, which are all to 
be retained and have been incorporated into the layout of the development. The survey 
also identifies large areas within the woodland which are made up of specimens (Category 
C) that are deemed to be low quality unremarkable trees of very limited merit. 
 
It is evident on the submitted plans that the siting of the camping pods and chalets would 
result in a loss of some of the low quality trees, which make up the bulk of the dense 
woodland environment. The siting of these structures has been selected to minimise the 
number of trees that need to be felled. Additionally, native tree species would be planted 
around the accommodation, which would help improve the quality of the woodland 
environment. Similarly, the proposed overflow carpark would result in the loss of trees 
within the southern part of the woodland, which mainly comprises young and semi-mature 
(Category C) Alder and Hazel. It is proposed that a number of trees would be planted along 
the boundaries of the car park to help mitigate the likely impacts of the development. 

Page 15



 
To minimise the potential impacts on the woodland environment, the Tree Protection Plan 
indicates temporary protective fencing would be erected before any construction activity 
commences and would remain in place until the completion of the landscaping works. The 
Tree Protection Plan also identifies the root protection zones for the most significant trees 
within the site. The proposed access tracks would, in the main, avoid encroaching into the 
root protection zones. However, a section of the vehicular track, which passes through the 
woodland between the camping pods and chalets, would have the potential to impact on 
the roots of 3 trees. As such the Tree Protection Plan has identified these areas as no dig 
zones. Instead a 3 dimensional geotextile grid system would be utilised, which can be filled 
with hardcore material to form a track without adversely impacting on the roots of the trees. 
The proposed pedestrian/cycle tracks would similarly avoid the identified root protection 
zones and would be constructed to shallow depths with a stone dust surface. 
 
Whilst the development would inevitably have some impact on the woodland environment 
through the loss of trees, the landscaping scheme would provide a considerable number of 
replacement trees. This would help mitigate some of the impacts of the development and 
through appropriate management would help maintain/improve the integrity of the woodland 
environment. Therefore, the proposal complies with policy BW5 of the LDP. 
 
Ecological impacts 
 
The application site comprises an area of open scrub/rough pasture and woodland which 
lies partly within two non-statutory designated Sites of Importance for Nature Conservation 
(SINC), being Abercanaid (SINC 20) to the east and Graig Gethin (SINC 30) to the south. 
Within 1km of the site there are also 5 other SINCs and the Cwm Glo a Glyndyrys (946m 
north) Site of Special Scientific Interest (SSSI). Taking into account the scale of the 
development, together with the presence of the existing mountain bike facility, an Ecological 
Assessment (EA) was submitted in support of the application, which considers the potential 
impact of the proposal on protected species and habitats, as well as the impacts on the 
SINC environments. David Clements Ecology Ltd was instructed by the Planning Division to 
review the findings of the submitted EA and to advise on the acceptability of the survey 
work and the appropriateness of any mitigation/compensation measures. 
 
The EA notes that due to the scale of the proposal and the lack of likely impacts beyond the 
site boundary, the nearby SSSI is sufficiently well separated so that no impacts on its 
designated features are anticipated as a result of the proposed works. It is acknowledged in 
the EA that there would be impacts on the two SINCs through the loss of some woodland. 
These SINCs are designated for their ffridd habitats (Graig Gethin) and for their semi-
improved grasslands and marshy grasslands, with some semi-natural oak/birch woodlands 
and scattered scrub (Abercanaid Fields). The EA notes the portions of the SINC that would 
be most affected by the development is the woodlands, and that it is the ffridd habitats and 
grasslands which are arguably of higher biodiversity value.   
 
Whilst the development would retain large trees, there would be some loss of understorey 
(forestry ground) as a result of the proposed overflow carpark and camping provision. The 
EA also indicates the opening up of some areas would have potential to offer opportunities 
for positive ffridd management. The landscaping proposal sets out a comprehensive 
scheme for the planting of native shrubs and tree species. This includes tree planting within 

Page 16



the existing woodland area and screen/buffer planting around the carparks and other 
sensitive habitat environments. 
 
In terms of the potential impact on protected species and habitats, the EA has had 
particular regard to bats, Common Dormouse, Otters, Great Crest Newts and amphibians, 
Badgers, Hedgehogs, nesting birds and reptiles. It is identified that there may be a minor 
negative impact on bat species due to the loss of foraging areas and the potential for 
increased disturbance at night through additional lighting. The proposal would also reduce 
the available nesting and foraging habitat for birds with the loss of understorey scrub and 
grassland areas. Although Great Crest Newts have been recorded in a nearby SINC 
(Rhydycar West), no suitable habitats were identified within or adjacent to the site at 
present. However, the existing reed-bed pond may present a suitable habitat in the future 
once vegetation becomes more established. There is also suitable terrestrial habitat for 
amphibians such as Toads and Palmate Newts which were noted in the northern part of the 
site. In terms of reptiles, the grassland and ffridd habitat in the northern part of the site 
offers opportunity for reptiles to hunt, bask and hibernate. The EA considers there to be a 
negative low impact on reptiles and that there is sufficient habitat locally for Common 
Lizards to use, where there is likely to be a wider population. Whilst there was no evidence 
that the site was being used by Otters, Common Dormouse, Badgers or Hedgehogs, the 
EA considers a precautionary approach should be taken nonetheless during the 
construction and operation of the development. 
 
It is acknowledged in Chapter 6 (Ecology) of the EIA that the proposed development would 
have the potential for medium to high impacts on protected species and their habitats, in 
particular to lizards, nesting birds and amphibians. However, through appropriate mitigation 
the residual impacts of the development can be reduced to minor or negligible. This would 
involve retention of large trees with suitable roost features for bats, the provision of bat 
boxes, the retention of dark corridors, the provision of low level lighting and the installation 
of herpetofauna-proof fencing to minimise harm to amphibians. Additionally, any vegetation 
clearance should be carried out, outside of the bird nesting season and should be 
undertaken in accordance with the submitted reptile mitigation strategy, which includes 
enhancement features e.g. hibernaculas/log piles. It is concluded in the EA, that provided 
the recommendations of the report are carried out, there would be no major impacts on any 
protected species or habitats as a result of the proposal. 
 
It has been advised by David Clements Ecology Ltd that the submitted survey work has 
been undertaken using applicable guidelines and during optimal seasons and weather 
conditions. As such, the results of the survey work are reasonable and well founded. David 
Clements Ecology Ltd advises that the proposed mitigation measures are appropriate and 
adequate, but could be better presented within a separate Wildlife Protection Plan for the 
clearance and construction phases. This would provide greater clarity and ensure all the 
mitigation measures are implemented. 
 
Whilst it is evident that the proposal would have an impact on the SINC environments, 
protected species and habitats, it has been demonstrated that appropriate 
mitigation/compensation measures can be put in place to avoid any significant harm. 
Therefore, the proposal complies with policy BW5 of the LDP. 
 
 
 

Page 17



Highway implications 
 
Access to the site would be via the established private road/track that currently serves the 
mountain bike centre, which extends from the A470 trunk road to the south-east. The initial 
section of this road (by the A470) has a tarmac surface for the first 500m, with a hardcore 
surface beyond where it forms part of the forestry tracks through Gethin Woods. The 
carriageway of this access varies in width with a number of passing places along its length, 
all of which benefit from good forward visibility to minimise any conflict to traffic movements.  
 
The existing carpark that serves the mountain bike centre currently provides approximately 
150-170 parking spaces, although none of these are formerly marked due to the unbound 
hardcore material used in its construction. A one-way vehicle access route is in operation 
through the site which assists in the management of traffic movements. It is proposed that 
the main extension to the carpark (in the northern part of the site) would operate in a similar 
manner, with a one-way route created that extends through the woodland area and re-joins 
the existing carpark to the south. Additional parking spaces would also be provided within 
the proposed overflow carpark, which would be accessed via the existing tracks. The 
proposal would introduce 196 additional parking spaces, which in combination with the 
existing provision, would equate to a total of 366 spaces available to serve Bike Park 
Wales. 
 
To determine the potential impact of the development on the existing highway network, a 
Transport Statement (TA) has been submitted in support of the application, which considers 
the potential traffic movements, parking capacity, highway safety and access via 
sustainable means of transport within a rural environment. It was concluded in the TA that 
the proposal would not have a material impact on safety relating to vehicles entering and 
exiting the site, with sufficient driver visibility and adequate provision for vehicles to pass at 
slow speeds. The TA notes from the traffic surveys that no queueing occurs along the 
access road during peak hours and the information provided does not suggest that vehicles 
would queue back to the A470 as a result of the proposal. The TA indicates the 
development would result in a minimal increase in traffic flow along the highway network of 
less than 0.6%. As such the existing access is considered to have sufficient capacity to 
accommodate the development and there would be no material impact on traffic flow or 
congestion. It has been demonstrated that the development would not give rise to any 
significant highway safety concerns. In this regard, it is acknowledged that the Engineering 
and Traffic Group Leader has not raised any objection. 
 
Whilst it is anticipated that the majority of people would travel to Bike Park Wales by car 
given its rural location, it is noted in the TA that the site benefits from existing public rights 
of way connections which link to key cycling routes. These provide opportunities for 
walking/cycling to and from the development, which also link to public transport services in 
the vicinity i.e. Pentrebach train station. 
 
The TA has identified that the existing parking demand on peak days (during the summer 
period) was 229 vehicles, which exceeds the current capacity and demonstrates an under-
provision of parking on site. It is anticipated that the proposal would see an increase (30%) 
in the number of visitors and that approximately 298 parking spaces would be required to 
meet this demand. Taking into account the camping pods and chalets the TA considers a 
total of 337 parking spaces would be required across the site. The TA concludes that the 

Page 18



proposal would provide adequate parking provision within the main car parking areas to 
meet the demand of the development for the majority of the year.  
 
It is acknowledged that the number of car parking spaces proposed are more than that 
required, as identified in the TA. However, the lack of demarcation of existing and proposed 
parking areas would likely lead to some parked vehicles being more spread out. This would 
consequently have some impact on the available space for parking. Therefore, the total 
number of parking spaces to be provided should be treated as an estimate rather than a 
precise figure of the actual numbers. The provision of additional parking (46 spaces) within 
the overflow car park would also assist in meeting increased demands during special 
events e.g. mountain bike competitions. For the above reasons, the proposal complies with 
policies BW12 and TB11 of the LDP. 
 
Historic environment 
 
The proposed development is located within an area identified by policy AS4 of the LDP as 
a Landscape of Outstanding Historic Interest. In such areas there will be a presumption in 
favour of its protection, conservation and enhancement in accordance with its status as a 
Landscape of Historic Interest in Wales. Therefore, development should only be supported 
where it would maintain or enhance the character and integrity of the landscape. 
 
To determine the potential impact of the proposal an ASIDOHL2 has been submitted in 
support of this application. The assessment acknowledges that there are no Scheduled 
Ancient Monuments (SAM) or listed buildings within the 250m study area around the site. 
However, within 1km of the site, there are 3 SAMs, namely Abercanaid Haystack Boiler 
(400m away), the Vale of Neath Railway Cutting and Tunnel Portal (900m away) and Cwm 
Pit (980m away). The ASIDOHL2 also identifies 41 Grade II listed buildings within 1km of 
the site. 
 
The assessment identifies 44 Historic Landscape Character Areas (HLCA) that had the 
potential to be indirectly affected by the proposed development. A Zone of Theoretical 
Visibility (ZTV) analysis was also undertaken to determine the potential inter-visibility of the 
development with other historic assets. This identified potential impacts on Cyfarthfa Castle 
Registered Park and Garden (3.5km away) and three Schedule Ancient Monuments (SAM), 
being Merthyr Tramroad Tunnel (1.3km away), Ffosyfran Deserted Iron Mining Village and 
the Sarn Howell Pond and Watercourses (both 2.5km away). Potential impacts on Cairns 
within Merthyr Common (2.7km away) were also noted.  
 
It is concluded in the ASIDOHL2 that the development would have no indirect physical 
impact on the identified historic assets. The visibility analysis noted that of the 44 HLCA 
considered, 13 of these had some potential to be affected by the development. However, 
due to the distances, topography, intervening structures, trees and vegetation, it was 
concluded in the ASIDOHL2 that the overall impact on the landscape would be low and the 
overall significance of the impact on the historic landscape is slight. As such, the impact of 
the development on key elements is such that the value of the historic landscape area 
would remain essentially unchanged. In this regard, it is acknowledged that both 
Glamorgan Gwent Archaeological Trust (GGAT) and Cadw are satisfied with the 
assessment carried out and have raised no objection to the development. Therefore, the 
proposal complies with policies BW6 and AS4 of the LDP. 
 

Page 19



Drainage 
 
A comprehensive drainage strategy has been submitted with the application to provide an 
appropriate system for managing the surface-water runoff across the site. This would 
involve the use of hydrocarbon capture membranes below the hardcore surfaces to restrict 
any pollutants entering the water environment i.e. oil or petrol leaks. It has been 
demonstrated through percolation tests that the ground within the site is not suitable for 
soakaways, which would normally allow surface water to naturally dissipate into the ground. 
Therefore a series of infiltrations strips would be located around the parking bays, which 
would capture the surface-water and channel it to an attenuation system at the eastern part 
of the site, where it would eventually discharge into the Nant Graig water course. It should 
be noted that the technical details of this drainage system would be subject to a separate 
SAB (SuDS Approval Body) application. 
 
Details have been provided of the foul drainage system to serve the proposed toilet/shower 
block, some of the camping pods and the chalets. Essentially, each of these facilities would 
be connected to a packaged treatment plant located at the eastern part of the site, where 
the effluent is treated before it is subsequently discharged into the nearby watercourse. 
This would require a separate environmental permit from Natural Resources Wales (NRW) 
and the Council’s drainage department. The foul drainage from the motorhomes would be 
disposed into a sealed septic tank, which would then be managed by the mountain bike 
centre. 
 
It is acknowledged that the Engineering and Traffic Group Leader has not raised any 
objections to the development. It is also noted that NRW have not raised any objection to 
the development and have not raised any issue in principle with the foul drainage system 
discharging into the ground. However they have requested further details of the foul 
drainage system be provided, which would form part of their permitting process. 
 
It is considered that an adequate drainage system can be provided to accommodate the 
proposed development without adverse impacts on the water environment. Therefore, the 
proposal complies with policy BW8 of the LDP. 
 
Ground conditions 
 
The application site lies within an area of land which has been identified by The Coal 
Authority to be at high risk to past coal mining activities, of which 7 seams of coal at depths 
of 100m to 280m have been noted. Accordingly, a Coal Mining Risk Assessment has been 
undertaken. It was noted in this assessment that the geological maps indicate a number of 
coal seams are likely to underlie the site at shallow depths. Although, no mine entries were 
identified within the site, or within a 20m radius, the possibility for unrecorded mine entries 
could not be ruled out. As such, an intrusive site investigation was carried out which 
involved drilling four boreholes. It is concluded in the Site Investigation Report that due to 
the intact nature of relatively thin coal seams and the proven rock cover, there is little risk of 
shallow coal workings to the development, which may cause subsidence at the site surface. 
Therefore, the report considers no mining mitigation measures are necessary. In this 
regard, it is acknowledged that The Coal Authority is satisfied with the site investigation 
works that have been undertaken and has not raised any objection to the development. 
Therefore, it is considered that the site can be appropriately developed safely without 
significant stability concerns.   

Page 20



 
CONCLUSIONS 
 
The duty to improve the economic, social, environmental and cultural well-being of Wales, 
in accordance with the sustainable development principle, under section 3 of the Well-Being 
of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 (“the WBFG Act”) has been taken into 
consideration when determining this application. In reaching the following recommendation, 
the ways of working set out at section 5 of the WBFG Act have been considered and thus 
the proposal is in accordance with the sustainable development principle through its 
contribution towards one or more of the Welsh Ministers well-being objectives set out as 
required by section 8 of the WBFG Act. 
 
For the above reasons the proposed development is acceptable and complies with the 
relevant LDP policies. Accordingly, the following recommendation is made: 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION: BE APPROVED subject to the following CONDITIONS: 
 

 
 1. The development shall begin not later than five years from the date of this decision. 
  
 Reason - To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 
 
 2. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved 

plans and documents: 
  
 - Drawing No. 19/461/09 Rev D - Detailed Landscape Proposals Masterplan 
 - Drawing No. 19/461/10 Rev D - BPW Landscape Maintenance Plan 
 - Drawing No. (60)P01 Rev N - Proposed Site Wide External Works Scheme 
 - Drawing No. (60)P10 Rev B - Site Wide Sections 
 - Drawing No. RCD01 - Road / Parking Construction Detail 
 - Drawing No. LT1811.04.05 - Camping Accommodation 
 - Drawing No. LT1811.04.04 - Proposed Shower Block 
 - Ecological Impact Assessment Report 
 - Habitat Management Plan (Dated 10th October 2019) 
 - Tree Survey Addendum (Dated 19th December 2018) 
 - Tree Survey (Dated 11th November 2019) 
 - 10 Year Landscape Maintenance Programme (Dated 4th October 2019) 
 - Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan (Dated 14th November 

2019) 
  
 Reason -To ensure compliance with the approved plans and clearly define the 

scope of the permission. 
 
 3. The development, consisting of camping pods and chalets, shall be occupied as 

holiday accommodation only and shall not be occupied as a person's sole or main 
place of residence.  An up to date register shall be kept by Bike Park Wales and be 
made available for inspection by the local planning authority upon request. The 
register shall contain details of the names of all of the occupiers of the 

Page 21



accommodation, their main home addresses and their date of arrival and departure 
from the accommodation. 

  
 Reason - The site is unacceptable for permanent housing by reason of its location in 

the open countryside in accordance with Policy BW4 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local 
Development Plan. 

 
 4. The siting of campervans and camping pods shall be limited to the number and 

specific locations as indicated on the proposed BPW Landscape Masterplan 
(Drawing No. 18/461/01 Rev H). No additional campervans or camping pods shall be 
located within the site. 

  
 Reason - To avoid intensification of the development within a countryside location, in 

the interests of the character and appearance of the area, highway safety and to 
accord with Policies BW5 and BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 

 
 5. No development shall take place until details, including structural calculations and 

facing materials, of any retaining wall which exceeds 1 metre in height have been 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The walls shall 
be completed in accordance with the approved details before the development 
hereby approved is brought into beneficial use.  

  
 Reason - In the interest of safety and visual amenity in accordance with Policy BW7 

of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 
  
 6. No development shall take place until a Wildlife Protection Plan has been 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The plan shall 
have regard to the recommendation of the Ecological Impact Assessment and shall 
include: 

  
 a.   An appropriate scale plan showing 'Wildlife Protection Zones' where construction 

activities are restricted and where protective measures will be installed or 
implemented; 

 b.  Details of protective measures (both physical measures and sensitive working 
practices) to avoid impacts during construction, including a pollution prevention 
plan to protect all watercourses and ponds within the site and surrounding area; 

 c.   A timetable to show phasing of construction activities to avoid periods of the year 
when sensitive wildlife could be harmed (such as nesting bird season); 

 d.  A timetable for the implementation of the mitigation measures set out in the 
Habitat Management Plan; 

 e.   Details of the location for 5 bat boxes (Schegler Type 2FN); 
 f.    Persons responsible for: 
  
 i) Compliance with legal consents relating to nature conservation; 
 ii) Compliance with planning conditions relating to nature conservation; 
 iii) Installation of physical protection measures during construction; 
 iv) Implementation of sensitive working practices during construction; 
 v) Regular inspection and maintenance of physical protection measures and 

monitoring of working practices during construction; 

Page 22



 vi) Provision of training and information about the importance of the 'Wildlife 
Protection Zones' to all construction personnel on site.  

  
 All construction activities shall be implemented with the approved details and timing 

of the plan 
  
 Reason - To protect the natural environment in accordance with Policy BW5 of the 

Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 
 
 7. Prior to the installation of any external lighting a light mitigation strategy, 

including details of dark corridors to be retained across the site and measures to 
reduce light spillage onto foraging habitats for bats, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. All works shall be completed  in 
accordance with the approved details prior to the beneficial use of the camping pods 
and chalets and shall be maintained as such thereafter. 

  
 Reason - To minimise the impact of external lighting serving the development within 

a countryside location and in the interest of the environment for protected species 
and to accord with policies BW5 and BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development 
Plan. 

 
 8. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the 

Arboricultural Method Statement and Tree Protection Plan. 
  
 Reason - To protect the natural environment in accordance with Policy BW5 of the 

Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 
 
 9. All planting, seeding or turfing comprised in the approved details of landscaping 

(Drawing No. 19/461/09 Rev D) shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding 
seasons following the beneficial use of the camping pods and chalets, or the 
completion of the development, whichever is the sooner; and any trees or plants 
which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development die, are 
removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next 
planting season with others of similar size and species.  

  
 Reason - To ensure that the new development will be visually attractive in the 

interests of amenity and to protect the natural environment in accordance with 
Policies BW5 & BW7 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local Development Plan. 

 
10. Prior to the erection of the camping pods and chalets hereby approved, a 

Woodland Management Plan for a period of 25 years, shall be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the local planning authority. All works shall be carried out in 
accordance with the approved details. 

  
 Reason - To protect the natural environment and ensure the long-term management 

of the woodland areas, in accordance with Policy BW5 of the Merthyr Tydfil Local 
Development Plan. 

 
 
 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



 
            

FOR INFORMATION – APPEAL DECISION 
 

DATE WRITTEN 13th December 2019 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER Caroline Pulley 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 8th January 2020 
 

Application No. Date Determining Authority 
P/19/0115 10.10.2018 MTCBC 
   

Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 
Applicant/Agent 

   

Provision of a new access 
and driveway to front of 
property 

Glenbrook 
High Street 
Trelewis 
Treharris 
CF46 6AD 

Mrs Ashleigh Bucknall 
Glenbrook 
High Street 
Trelewis 
Treharris 
CF46 6AD 

 

 

 

 

 

TYPE OF APPPEAL:   AGAINST REFUSAL   
APPEAL REFERENCE NO.:  APP/U6925/D/19/3237675 
DATE DECISION RECEIVED:  25th November 2019 
DECISION:    DISMISSED 
 
 

Page 25

Agenda Item 4



 
 

Page 26



 

Page 27



This page is intentionally left blank



 
            

FOR INFORMATION – APPEAL RECEIVED  
 

DATE WRITTEN 13th December 2019 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER David Cross 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 8th January 2020 
 

Application No. Date Determining Authority 
P/19/0038 21.11.2019 MTCBC 
   

Proposed Development Location Name & Address of 
Applicant/Agent 

   

Proposed chalet development 
(4-6 units) with access and 
parking 

Merthyr Tydfil Golf Club 
Cloth Hall Lane 
Cefn Coed 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2NT 

Merthyr Tydfil Golf Club Ltd 
Cloth Hall Lane 
Cefn Coed 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2NT 

 

 
 
 
 
TYPE OF APPPEAL:   AGAINST REFUSAL   
APPEAL REFERENCE NO.:  APP/U6925/A/19/3240540 
DATE APPEAL RECEIVED:  21st November 2019 
 

Page 29

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 
            

FOR INFORMATION – APPEAL RECEIVED  
 

DATE WRITTEN 13th December 2019 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER Sara Thomas 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 8th January 2020 
 

Application No. Date Determining Authority 
PE/18/0119 15.10.2018 MTCBC 
   

Proposed Development Location 
 

 

   

Erection of heras fencing and 
siting of vehicle used for 
storage 

Tramroadside 
Quakers Yard 
Treharris 
CF46 5AR 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
TYPE OF APPPEAL:   ENFORCEMENT NOTICE 
APPEAL REFERENCE NO.:  APP/U6925/C/19/3238677 
DATE APPEAL RECEIVED:  30th October 2019 

Page 31

Agenda Item 6



This page is intentionally left blank



FOR INFORMATION 
 

 

DELEGATED DECISION REPORT LIST:  1st October – 30th November 2019 

 

App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

 
P/18/0341 

 
Tyncoedcae Farm 
Swansea Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1PB 
 

 
Change of use of agricultural land and 
agricultural building to mixed use of 
agriculture and contractors yard and 
business 

 
Refusal 

 
26/11/2019 

P/18/0373 Land Off Tramroadside 
And To The Rear (north) 
Of Six Bells Estate 
Heolgerrig 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Proposed 4 bedroom house Refusal 23/10/2019 

P/19/0045 Frondeg 
Gwaunfarren Road 
Penydarren 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8DJ 
 

Erection of garage and change of use 
to land to the rear of the property to 
provide driveway 

Full Approval 17/10/2019 

P/19/0120 Land Adjacent To  
1 Patricia Close 
Fairview Terrace 
Twynyrodyn 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0RN 
 

Erection of a dwelling Full Approval 03/10/2019 

P/19/0170 Land Adjacent To The 
Lady Charlotte 
North Street 
Dowlais 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 3EH 
 

Erection of barrier and concrete posts Full Approval 04/10/2019 

DATE WRITTEN 13th December 2019 

REPORT AUTHOR Judith Jones 

CASE OFFICER Various 

COMMITTEE Planning and Regulatory 

COMMITTEE DATE 8th January 2019 

Page 33

Agenda Item 7



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

 
P/19/0194 

 
St Tydfil Shopping 
Centre 
River Walk 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 
 

 
Alterations to Shopping Centre to 
include;  removal of ramps to 
southern access, relocation of existing 
fire escape stairs to south elevation, 
introducing new canopy to southern 
entrance, provision of lift in Market 
Square, new retail unit and other 
associated works 
 

Full Approval 02/10/2019 

P/19/0196 Prince Charles Hospital  
Gurnos Road 
Gurnos 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 9DT 
 

Erection of a temporary two storey 
portakabin, Unit 3, to provide a multi- 
disciplinary training unit 

Full Approval 08/11/2019 

P/19/0208 D Hughes Ltd 
Pontsarn Road 
Pontsarn 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Side extension to industrial unit Full Approval 08/11/2019 

P/19/0211 Ty Carmel 
43 High Street 
Cefn Coed 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2PH 
 

Alteration of and extension to existing 
entrance gate involving demolition of 
section of stone wall 

Full Approval 27/11/2019 

P/19/0216 Land Adjacent To 1A 
Blaen Dowlais 
Dowlais 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Erection of a pair of semi-detached 
dwellings with off road parking 

Refusal 20/11/2019 

P/19/0222 4 Treharne Park 
Treharris 
CF46 5PQ 
 

First floor extension above existing 
garage 

Full Approval 11/10/2019 

P/19/0223 30 Lower Mount 
Pleasant 
Troedyrhiw 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4LT 
 

Certificate of lawfulness to use 
dwelling house (within C3 use class) to 
accommodate, a young person with 
carers 

Certificate of 
Law Granted 

03/10/2019 

Page 34



 

App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/19/0224 2 Edwards Terrace 
Quakers Yard 
Treharris 
CF46 5DA 
 

Retention of decking and fencing to 
rear garden 

Full Approval 03/10/2019 

P/19/0227 35 Nightingale Street 
Abercanaid 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1DX 
 

Erection of two storey rear extension Full Approval 08/10/2019 

P/19/0228 Land Off Upper Colliers 
Row 
Heolgerrig 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Construction of 8 two storey dwellings 
with associated private road and off 
road parking 

Full Approval 07/11/2019 

P/19/0231 Wilkinson 
St Tydfil Shopping 
Centre 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8EG 
 

Relocate existing fascia sign on front 
elevation and relocate two other signs 
on the western elevation 

Advertisement 
Approval 

07/10/2019 

P/19/0232 Wilkinson 
St Tydfils Shopping 
Centre 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8EG 
 

Installation of new shopfront, creation 
of new staff entrance door and new 
fire escape doors, creation of new 
plant area and installation of 7 No. air 
conditioning units and other minor 
alterations 
 

Full Approval 23/10/2019 

P/19/0233 7 Chapel Street 
Abercanaid 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1RX 
 

Erection of a garage Full Approval 03/10/2019 

P/19/0234 21 Vernon Close 
Penyard 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0HY 
 

Pitched roof dormer extension to 
front and flat roof dormer to rear 

Full Approval 10/10/2019 

P/19/0236 McDonalds Restaurant 
Unit A Cyfarthfa Retail 
Park 
Swansea Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1HY 

Erect 4 digital freestanding signs and 1 
digital booth screen 

Full Approval 23/10/2019 

Page 35



 

App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/19/0237 Pro-Office Business 
Furniture 
Unit 6 To 7 
Phoenix Industrial Estate 
Goat Mill Road 
Dowlais 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 3TD 
 

Retrospective application for a bio 
mass heating system with associated 
flue pipes and terminals 

Full Approval 23/10/2019 

P/19/0238 Penybryn  
Heolgerrig 
Heolgerrig 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1RP 

Raise ridge height of existing property, 
construct front and rear dormers, 
single storey side extension and front 
porch.  Provide new front driveway 
and new boundary treatments to 
front, side and rear of dwelling 
 

Full Approval 29/10/2019 

P/19/0239 53 Bridge Street 
Troedyrhiw 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4DX 
 

Change of use to office with a meeting 
and training facility 

Full Approval 25/10/2019 

P/19/0241 49 Bridge Street 
Troedyrhiw 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 4DX 
 

Change of use of ground floor to 
tanning salon (Sui Generis) 

Full Approval 23/10/2019 

P/19/0242 107 Lakeside Gardens 
Gurnos 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1EW 
 

Proposed side extension, rear first 
floor covered balcony extension and 
other external alterations 

Full Approval 30/10/2019 

P/19/0243 Elland House  
1 Luther Lane 
Twynyrodyn 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0PA 
 

Proposed rear extension Full Approval 15/10/2019 

P/19/0248 Garage To Rear Of 
Woodland Terrace 
And Nos 22 & 24 The 
Parade 
Twynyrodyn 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

Extension to garage Full Approval 23/10/2019 

Page 36



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

 
P/19/0251 

 
Land At Melin Caiach 
(including Heather 
Court) 
Quakers Yard 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 

 
Non material amendment to planning 
permission P/00/0100 to remove the 
rear kitchen window to house types 
C1 & 2, Plots 53, 54 and 55 

 
Non Material 
Amendment - 
Approved 

 
14/10/2019 

P/19/0252 Glantaff Inn  
Cardiff Road 
Quakers Yard 
Treharris 
CF46 5AH 
 

Conversion of part first floor to 
bunkhouse and erection of external 
stairs 

Full Approval 08/11/2019 

P/19/0253 17 Brondeg 
Heolgerrig 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1TW 
 
 

Two storey and single storey rear 
extension with alterations 

Full Approval 23/10/2019 

P/19/0255 31 Woodlands Avenue 
Treharris 
CF46 5AS 
 
 

Proposed two storey rear extension Full Approval 25/10/2019 

P/19/0256 Land To The Rear Of And 
Including  
10 - 13 Hampton Street 
Twynyrodyn 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 
 

Reconstruction of collapsed retaining 
wall 

Full Approval 25/10/2019 

P/19/0257 Land Adjacent  To 
Prospect Bungalow 
Slip Road 
Cwm Blacks 
Merthyr Tydfil 
 
 

Renewal of planning permission 
P/16/0284 for residential 
development of 5 houses (Outline) 

Outline 
Approval 

29/10/2019 

P/19/0258 4 Brooklands Close 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8EJ 
 
 
 
 

Erect flat roof dormer to the rear Full Approval 29/10/2019 

Page 37



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/19/0261 8 Glyncoed Terrace 
Tramroad Side South 
Twynyrodyn 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0UB 
 

Remove existing flat roof and provide 
monopitch roof to single storey rear 
extension 

Full Approval 28/10/2019 

P/19/0262 36 Alma Street 
Dowlais 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 3RP 
 

Single storey extension Full Approval 21/11/2019 

P/19/0263 Former Poundworld 
High Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8BY 
 

Erect 6 fascia signs to the front, side 
and rear of the building 

Full Approval 04/11/2019 

P/19/0264 Former Poundworld 
High Street 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8BY 
 

Erect 23 AC units on flat roof of 
building 

Full Approval 04/11/2019 

P/19/0266 Unit 10 McDonalds 
Merthyr Tydfil Leisure 
Village 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1UT 
 

Erection of signage Advertisement 
Approval 

04/11/2019 

P/19/0268 30 Trevithick Gardens 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0RP 
 

Demolition of rear conservatory and 
erection of single storey rear 
extension with roof lantern 

Full Approval 04/11/2019 

P/19/0271 Unit 7 & 7B 
Pant Industrial Estate 
Pant 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 2SR 
 

Erect three fascia signs Advertisement 
Approval 

08/11/2019 

P/19/0276 School Bungalow  
Market Street 
Dowlais 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 3HW 
 
 
 

Change of use of school bungalow into 
an education facility.  Proposal to 
include access ramp and new window 
to south facing elevation of building 

Full Approval 19/11/2019 

Page 38



App No Site Proposal Decision Date of 
Decision 

P/19/0279 15 Chestnut Way 
Shopping Precinct 
Gurnos 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 9SB 
 

Internal remodelling of unit to create 
a cafe area with seating and a new 
single storey extension to provide a 
community hub.  Proposal to include 
associated external works to building 

Full Approval 26/11/2019 

P/19/0283 8 Gilfach-cynon 
Twynyrodyn 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0PR 
 

Change of use from dwelling (C3 use) 
to a house of multiple occupation 
(HMO), (C4 use) 

Full Approval 28/11/2019 

P/19/0291 Wilko 
St Tydfil Shopping 
Centre 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 8EG 
 

Application for non-material 
amendment to planning application 
P/18/0355 to alter the external 
staircase configuration 

Non Material 
Amendment - 
Approved 

14/11/2019 

P/19/0292 Park Lodge Bungalow  
Queens Road 
Twynyrodyn 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF47 0ES 
 

Dormer conversion comprising an 
increase in roof ridge height with front 
and side dormers, introduction of 
Juliette balcony and construction of a 
front conservatory 

Full Approval 21/11/2019 

P/19/0297 13 Harlech Drive 
Castle Park 
Swansea Road 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 1JU 
 

Non material amendment to planning 
permission P/19/0121 to amend roof 
pitch and finish of side extension and 
raise sill level of existing first floor side 
window and install new window in its 
place 

Non Material 
Amendment - 
Approved 

25/11/2019 

P/19/0298 9 High Street  
Caeharris 
Dowlais 
Merthyr Tydfil 
CF48 3HB 

Non material amendment to planning 
permission P/18/0369 to reduce 
depth of extension and alter door 
position 

Non Material 
Amendment - 
Approved 

26/11/2019 

 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 P/19/0073 - Bike Park Wales, Gethin Woodland Centre, Abercanaid, Merthyr Tydfil, CF48 1YZ
	4 P/19/0115 Appeal Decision
	5 P/19/0038 Appeal Received
	6 PE/18/0119 Appeal Received
	7 Delegated Report

